### **UNITED STATES** SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

	FORM 10	0-Q
(Mark One)		
X	QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 1934	13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
	For the quarterly period ended	September 30, 2010
	OR	
	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 1934	13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
	For the transition period fro	om to
	Commission File Numb	per: 1-11692
	Ethan Allen Into (Exact name of registrant as spo	
(Sta	Delaware ate or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)	06-1275288 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
	Ethan Allen Drive, Danbury, Connecticut (Address of principal executive offices)	<b>06811</b> (Zip Code)
	(203) 743-800 (Registrant's telephone number,	
	N/A (Former name, former address and former fisc	al year if abanced since lost report)
	check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed	
		a its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be s (or such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such
	check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated rated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-	filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions 2 of the Exchange Act
	Large accelerated filer $\square$	Accelerated filer ⊠
	Non-accelerated filer □	Smaller reporting company $\square$
Indicate by	check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b	o-2 of the Exchange Act). ☐ Yes ☒ No
Indicate the	number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of common stock	k, as of the latest practicable date.
At October	29, 2010, there were 28,728,575 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value	\$.01, outstanding.
Table of Content	<u>ts</u>	
	TABLE OF CON	TEN TS
Item		Page

Part I — Financial Information

Financial Statements as of September 30, 2010 (unaudited) and June 30, 2010 and for the three months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 (unaudited) <u>1.</u>

Consolidated Balance Sheets

	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	4
	Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity	5
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	6
<u>2.</u>	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	21
<u>3.</u>	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	28
<u>4.</u>	Controls and Procedures	29
	Part II - Other Information	
<u>1.</u>	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	29
<u>1A.</u>	Risk Factors	29
<u>2.</u>	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	29
<u>3.</u>	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	30
<u>5.</u>	Other Information	30
<u>6.</u>	<u>Exhibits</u>	30
	<u>Signatures</u>	31
	1	

### PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

### **Item 1. Financial Statements**

### ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

### **Consolidated Balance Sheets**

(In thousands, except share data)

		ember 30, 2010	J	une 30, 2010
	(	unaudited)		
ASSETS				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	62,728	\$	73,852
Marketable securities (note 5)		11,671		11,075
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of \$1,158 at September 30, 2010 and \$1,160 at				
June 30, 2010		16,484		17,105
Inventories (note 6)		138,518		134,040
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		26,565		23,620
Total current assets		255,966		259,692
Property, plant and equipment, net		302,095		305,747
Goodwill and other intangible assets (notes 8 and 9)		45,128		45,128
Restricted cash and investments (note 4)		16,329		17,318
Other assets		3,495		3,892
Total assets	\$	623,013	\$	631,777
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY				
Current liabilities:				
Current maturities of long-term debt (note 10)	\$	3,899	S	3.898
Customer deposits	Ф	51,111	Þ	52,605
Accounts payable		20,422		23,952
Accrued compensation and benefits		24,678		28,353
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (note 7)		40,377		36,934
Total current liabilities	_	140,487	_	145.742
Total Current Habilities		140,467		143,742
Long-term debt (note 10)		197,042		199,369
Other long-term liabilities		18,060		19,123
Deferred income taxes		8,956		9,084
Total liabilities		364,545		373,318
Shareholders' equity:				
Class A common stock, par value \$.01, 150,000,000 shares authorized; 48,347,607 shares issued at September 30,				
2010 and 48,346,607 shares issued at June 30, 2010		483		483
Class B common stock, par value \$.01, 600,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding at		403		405
September 30, 2010 and June 30, 2010		_		_
Preferred stock, par value \$.01, 1,055,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding at September 30,				
2010 and June 30, 2010		_		_
Additional paid-in capital		358,953		358,722
		359,436		359,205
Less: Treasury stock (at cost), 19,619,032 shares at September 30, 2010 and 19,414,746 shares at June 30, 2010		(584,119)		(581,331)
Retained earnings		481,723		479,341
Accumulated other comprehensive income (note 14)		1,428		1,244
recommended care. Comprehensive movine (note 11)	-	1,720	-	1,2-

Total shareholders' equity	 258,468	258,459
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$ 623,013	\$ 631,777

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2

### Table of Contents

### ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

## Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited) (In thousands, except per share data)

		e months ended eptember 30,
	2010	2009
Net sales	\$ 164,8	\$41 \$ 136,190
Cost of sales	82,4	60 77,881
Gross profit	82,3	81 58,309
Operating expenses:		
Selling	39,3	27 35,934
General and administrative	37,4	43 37,651
Restructuring and impairment charge, net (note 7)	2	25 812
Total operating expenses	76,9	95 74,397
Operating income (loss)	5,3	86 (16,088)
Interest and other miscellaneous income, net	3,1	57 797
Interest and other related financing costs (note 10)		2,981
Income (loss) before income taxes	5,5	69 (18,272)
Income tax expense (benefit) (note 3)	1,7	(4,693)
Net income (loss)	\$ 3,8	\$ (13,579)
Per share data (note 13):		
Basic earnings per common share:		
Net income (loss) per basic share	\$ 0.	.13 \$ (0.47)
Basic weighted average common shares	28,7	79 28,926
Diluted earnings per common share:		
Net income (loss) per diluted share		.13 \$ (0.47)
Diluted weighted average common shares	28,9	50 28,926

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

3

### Table of Contents

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

(In thousands)

	 Three Months Ended September 30,		
	2010		2009
Operating activities:			
Net income (loss)	\$ 3,813	\$	(13,579)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:			
Depreciation and amortization	5,607		12,697
Compensation expense related to share-based awards	231		523
Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes	(6)		(5,197)
Restructuring and impairment charge (benefit), net	_		266
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment	56		(470)
Other	(93)		55
Change in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquired businesses:			
Accounts receivable	621		33
Inventories	(4,478)		9,858
Prepaid and other current assets	(3,001)		6,427
Other assets	227		186
Customer deposits	(1,494)		7,194
Accounts payable	(941)		(1,122)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	(360)		(332)
Other long-term liabilities	 (1,063)		456
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	(881)		16,995
Investing activities:			
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant & equipment	57		5,935
Capital expenditures	(1,504)		(2,488)
Decrease in restricted cash and investments	989		_

Purchases of marketable securities Other 18 Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (1,053)  Financing activities: Payments on long-term debt Purchase and retirements of company stock Payment of deferred financing costs  (2,296) Payment of deferred financing costs	
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (1,053) 3  Financing activities:  Payments on long-term debt (2,296)  Purchase and retirements of company stock (5,377)	_
Financing activities:  Payments on long-term debt (2,296)  Purchase and retirements of company stock (5,377)	6
Payments on long-term debt (2,296) Purchase and retirements of company stock (5,377)	-53
Payments on long-term debt (2,296) Purchase and retirements of company stock (5,377)	
Purchase and retirements of company stock (5,377)	
	10)
Payment of deferred financing costs	_
ayment of deferred financing costs	(22)
Payment of cash dividends (1,438)	48)
Net cash used in financing activities (9,111) (1	80)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (79)	24
Net increase (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents (11,124)	92
Cash & cash equivalents - beginning of period 73,852 52	60
Cash & cash equivalents - end of period \$ 62,728 \$ 72	52

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

4

### Table of Contents

### ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity
Three months ended September 30, 2010
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share data)

	ommon Stock	Additional Paid-In Capital	Treasury Stock	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income	Retained Earnings	Total
Balance at June 30, 2010	\$ 483	\$ 358,722	\$ (581,331)	\$ 1,244	\$ 479,341	\$ 258,459
Share-based compensation expense (note 12)	_	231	_	_	_	231
Purchase/retirement of 204,286 shares of company stock	_	_	(2,788)	_	_	(2,788)
Dividends declared on common stock	_	_	_	_	(1,431)	(1,431)
Other comprehensive income (note 14):						
Currency translation adjustments	_	_	_	153	_	153
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments	_	_	_	17	_	17
Loss on derivatives, net of tax and other	_	_	_	14	_	14
Net income (loss)	_	_	_	_	3,813	3,813
Total comprehensive income (loss)						3,997
Balance at September 30, 2010	\$ 483	\$ 358,953	\$ (584,119)	\$ 1,428	\$ 481,723	\$ 258,468

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

5

### Table of Contents

### ${\bf ETHAN\ ALLEN\ INTERIORS\ INC.\ AND\ SUBSIDIARIES}$

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

### (1) Basis of Presentation and Recent Accounting Pronouncements

### Basis of Presentation

Ethan Allen Interiors Inc. ("Interiors") is a Delaware corporation incorporated on May 25, 1989. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Interiors, its wholly owned subsidiary Ethan Allen Global, Inc. ("Global"), and Global's subsidiaries (collectively "We", "Us", "Our", "Ethan Allen", or the "Company"). All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. All of Global's capital stock is owned by Interiors, which has no assets or operating results other than those associated with its investment in Global.

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, which requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making those estimates, actual results could differ from those estimates. Areas in which significant estimates have been made include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition, the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, inventory obsolescence, tax valuation allowances, useful lives for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment analyses, the evaluation of uncertain tax positions and the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations.

### Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2009, the Financial Accountings Standards Board ("FASB") released additional guidance on Accounting Standards Codification Topic ("ASC") 810, "Consolidation" which revised previous guidance applicable to variable interest entities ("VIEs"). ASC 810 requires ongoing assessments of whether an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of a VIE, as opposed to reconsideration only when specific events occurred, as under former rules. The new guidance also replaced the quantitative approach previously required for determining the primary beneficiary of a VIE with a qualitative approach, and changes some disclosure requirements. We have adopted these provisions effective

July 1, 2010, and there was no significant impact on our financial statements and results of operations.

### (2) Interim Financial Presentation

In our opinion, all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments necessary for fair presentation, have been included in the consolidated financial statements. The results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2010 are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for the entire fiscal year. The interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2010. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified in order for them to conform to the current year's presentation.

### (3) Income Taxes

The Company reviews its expected annual effective income tax rates and makes changes on a quarterly basis as necessary based on certain factors such as changes in forecasted annual operating income; changes to actual or forecasted permanent book to tax differences; impacts from future tax audits with state, federal or foreign tax authorities; or impacts from tax law changes. The Company identifies items which are not normal and are nonrecurring in nature and treats these as discrete events. The tax effect of discrete items is recorded in the quarter in which the discrete events occur. Due to the volatility of these factors, the Company's consolidated effective income tax rate can change significantly on a quarterly basis.

6

### **Table of Contents**

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

The Company's consolidated effective tax rate was 31.5% and 25.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 respectively. In the current quarter, the effective tax rate is related to the tax expense on the current quarter's net income increased by current quarter interest expense on uncertain tax positions and partially offset by a reduction in valuation allowance driven primarily by utilization of certain deferred tax assets.

The Company conducts business globally and, as a result, the Company or one or more of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S., various state, and foreign jurisdictions. In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to examination by the taxing authorities in such major jurisdictions as Canada, Mexico and the U.S. As of September 30, 2010, certain subsidiaries of the Company are currently under audit from 2001 through 2007 in the U.S. It is reasonably possible that some of these audits may be completed during the next twelve months. It is reasonable to expect that various issues relating to uncertain tax benefits will be resolved within the next twelve months as exams are completed or as statutes expire and will impact the effective tax rate.

A full valuation allowance was established as of June 30, 2010 since the Company had a three year cumulative loss. As of September 30, 2010, the Company remains in a three year cumulative loss and the full valuation allowance remains in place. Due to the economic times and recent losses and after considering both positive and negative evidence, management's assessment is that realization of tax assets is not reasonably assured due to a lack of available objective evidence. Management will continue to assess the realizability of the tax assets based on actual and forecasted operating results on a quarterly basis.

### (4) Restricted Cash and Investments

During fiscal 2010, we transferred \$11.3 million as collateral for our workmen's compensation and other insurance liabilities previously secured by letters of credit, and \$6.0 million as collateral for our private label credit card issuer to ensure funding for delivery of products sold, into two restricted investment accounts. During the current quarter, \$1.0 million of the collateral for workmen's compensation liabilities was released by our insurance carrier due to a reduction in projected reserves. Both restricted investment accounts, which can be invested by us in money market mutual funds, and U.S. Treasuries and U.S. Government agency fixed income instruments with maturities of two years or less, cannot be withdrawn without the prior written consent of the secured party. These restricted investments are classified as long-term assets because they are not expected to be used within one year to fund operations. The balance is carried at cost, which approximates market value. See also Note 15, "Financial Instruments".

### (5) Marketable Securities

At September 30, 2010, the Company held \$11.7 million of marketable securities consisting of \$5.0 million in U.S. municipal bonds with maturities of less than one year and \$6.7 million in U.S. municipal bonds with maturities of one year or greater but less than two years. There are no material unrealized gains or losses recorded in other comprehensive income. There have been no realized gains or losses for the quarter ended September 30, 2010. We do not believe there are any impairments considered to be other than temporary at September 30, 2010. Also see Note 4, "Restricted Cash and Investments" and Note 15, "Financial Instruments".

7

### Table of Contents

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

### (6) Inventories

Inventories at September 30, 2010 and June 30, 2010 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Sep	tember 30, 2010	June 30, 2010		
Finished goods	\$	108,290	\$	104,782	
Work in process		8,099		8,421	
Raw materials		22,129		20,837	
	\$	138,518	\$	134,040	

Inventories are presented net of a related valuation allowance of \$1.6 million at September 30, 2010 and \$2.1 million at June 30, 2010.

### (7) Restructuring and Impairment Charges

In recent years, we have announced and executed plans to consolidate our operations as part of an overall strategy to maximize production efficiencies and maintain our competitive advantage. Activity in the Company's restructuring reserves for actions initiated in fiscal years 2008 and 2009 is combined in the summarized table below (in thousands) and is classified within accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

	Balance June 30, 2010		New charges (credits)		Utilized	Adjustments	Balance September 30, 2010		
Employee severance, other payroll and benefit costs	\$	290	\$		\$ (294)	\$ 4	\$		
Other property exit costs		2,800		_	(613)	221		2,408	
Write down of long-lived assets		_		_	_	_		_	
	\$	3,090	\$		\$ (907)	\$ 225	\$	2,408	

In fiscal 2009, the Company announced the consolidation of its domestic case goods and upholstery manufacturing capacity along with its logistics operations in both wholesale and retail. The total pre-tax restructuring, impairment, accelerated depreciation and other related charges for these fiscal 2009 actions was \$29 million (\$23 million in the wholesale segment and \$6 million in the retail segment). The charges arose from (i) a \$17 million impact on long-lived assets, (ii) \$8 million in employee severance, compensation, and benefit costs, and (iii) \$4 million in other associated costs. Current fiscal year charges for these actions totaled \$0.2 million primarily due to adjustments on non-cancellable leases. In fiscal 2008, we announced a plan to consolidate ten retail design centers and six retail service centers. Cumulative charges to date for the fiscal 2008 actions total \$5.7 million, and there were no charges incurred for these actions in the current fiscal year. Although the restructuring actions announced in fiscal years 2009 and 2008 are now complete, there is a remaining liability at September 30, 2010 for non-cancellable lease obligations with expirations of less than one year up to 23 years.

All charges for the restructuring activities above are included as restructuring and impairment charges in the Statement of Operations.

### (8) Business Acquisitions

There were no acquisitions completed during the three months ended September 30, 2010 or 2009.

8

### **Table of Contents**

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

### (9) Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Goodwill Impairment

There were no changes to our goodwill, other intangible assets or goodwill impairment during the three months ended September 30, 2010.

### (10) Borrowings

Total debt obligations at September 30, 2010 and June 30, 2010 consist of the following (in thousands):

	September 30, 2010		June 30, 2010
5.375% Senior Notes due 2015	\$ 196,842	\$	199,158
Industrial revenue bonds	3,855		3,855
Other debt	244		254
Total debt	 200,941		203,267
Less current maturities	3,899		3,898
Total long-term debt	\$ 197,042	\$	199,369

In September 2005, we completed a private offering of \$200.0 million in ten-year senior unsecured notes due 2015 (the "Senior Notes"). The Senior Notes were offered by Global and have an annual coupon rate of 5.375% with interest payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year. We have used the net proceeds of \$198.4 million to expand our retail network, invest in our manufacturing and logistics operations, and for other general corporate purposes. In September 2010, the Company repurchased \$2.4 million of the Senior Notes in three unsolicited open market transactions.

On October 23, 2009, the Company expanded to \$60 million the three-year senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility (the "Facility") established on May 29, 2009. The Facility provides revolving credit financing of up to \$60 million, subject to borrowing base availability. At the Company's option, revolving loans under the Agreement bear interest at an annual rate of either:

- (a) London Interbank Offered rate ("LIBOR") plus 3.25% to 4.25%, based on the average availability, or
- (b) the higher of (i) a prime rate, (ii) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, or (iii) a LIBOR rate plus 1.00% plus, in each case, an additional 2.25% to 3.25%, based on average availability.

The Facility is secured by all property owned, leased or operated by the Company in the United States excluding any real property owned by the Company and contains customary covenants which may limit the Company's ability to incur debt; engage in mergers and consolidations; make restricted payments (including dividends); sell certain assets; and make investments.

At September 30, 2010, we had no revolving loans, and \$1.0 million in standby letters of credit outstanding under the Facility. Remaining availability under the revolver totaled \$59.0 million subject to limitations set forth in the agreement noted above. We are in compliance with the terms and conditions of the agreement and as a result, the coverage charge ratio, or other restricted payment limitations did not apply.

As of September 30, 2010, we are in compliance with all covenants of the Facility and our Senior Notes.

c

### Table of Contents

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

### (11) Litigation

### Environmental Matters

We and our subsidiaries are subject to various environmental laws and regulations. Under these laws, we and/or our subsidiaries are, or may be, required to remove or

mitigate the effects on the environment of the disposal or release of certain hazardous materials.

During fiscal 2009, three locations where we and/or our subsidiaries had been named as a Potentially Responsible Party ("PRP") were resolved. In each case, we were not a major contributor based on the very small volume of waste generated by us in relation to total volume at those sites and were able to take part in de minimus settlement arrangements. One additional site in Carroll, New York continued to be evaluated as of September 30, 2010. We believe that we are not a major contributor. Liability under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended may be joint and several. As such, to the extent certain named PRPs are understanding of the financial strength of other PRPs has been considered, where appropriate, in the determination of our estimated liability. As of September 30, 2010, we believe that established reserves related to these environmental contingencies are adequate to cover probable and reasonably estimable costs associated with the remediation and restoration of these sites. We believe our currently anticipated capital expenditures for environmental control facility matters are not material.

We are subject to other federal, state and local environmental protection laws and regulations and are involved, from time to time, in investigations and proceedings regarding environmental matters. Such investigations and proceedings typically concern air emissions, water discharges, and/or management of solid and hazardous wastes. We believe that our facilities are in material compliance with all such applicable laws and regulations.

Regulations issued under the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 required the industry to reformulate certain furniture finishes or institute process changes to reduce emissions of volatile organic compounds. Compliance with many of these requirements has been facilitated through the introduction of high solids coating technology and alternative formulations. In addition, we have instituted a variety of technical and procedural controls, including reformulation of finishing materials to reduce toxicity, implementation of high velocity low pressure spray systems, development of storm water protection plans and controls, and further development of related inspection/audit teams, all of which have served to reduce emissions per unit of production. We remain committed to implementing new waste minimization programs and/or enhancing existing programs with the objective of (i) reducing the total volume of waste, (ii) limiting the liability associated with waste disposal, and (iii) continuously improving environmental and job safety programs on the factory floor which serve to minimize emissions and safety risks for employees. We will continue to evaluate the most appropriate, cost effective, control technologies for finishing operations and design production methods to reduce the use of hazardous materials in the manufacturing process.

### (12) Share-Based Compensation

On October 10, 2007, the Company's Board of Directors and M. Farooq Kathwari, our President and Chief Executive Officer, agreed to the terms of a new employment agreement expiring on June 30, 2012 ("the Employment Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms of the Employment Agreement, Mr. Kathwari was awarded on October 10, 2007, July 1, 2008, and July 1, 2009, options to purchase 150,000, 90,000 and 60,000 shares respectively, of our common stock. These options were issued at an exercise price of \$34.03, \$24.62, and \$10.68 per share respectively. The 2007 grant vested in three equal installments on each June 30 of 2008, 2009, and 2010. The 2008 grant vested in two equal installments on June 30, 2009 and June 30, 2010 respectively. The 2009 grant vested on June 30, 2010. On November 11, 2008, Mr. Kathwari was awarded options to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of \$15.93, which vests in four equal installments on the anniversary date of the grant. In addition, in

10

### **Table of Contents**

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

recognition of Mr. Kathwari's extraordinary efforts during the recent challenging times for our industry, on February 3, 2010 our Compensation Committee awarded Mr. Kathwari options to purchase an additional 50,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of \$14.86 per share. These stock options vest in four equal installments on the anniversary date of the grant. These awards were in addition to those provided for in the Employment Agreement. All options awarded were issued at the closing stock price on each grant date, and have a contractual term of 10 years.

In connection with the Employment Agreement, Mr. Kathwari received on each of November 13, 2007, July 1, 2008, and July 1, 2009, an annual award of 20,000 shares of restricted stock (for a total award of 60,000 shares), with vesting based on the performance of the Company's stock price during the three year periods subsequent to the respective award date as compared to the Standard and Poor's 500 index. The measurement period for the first tranche ended on June 30, 2010. The stock performance was partially achieved, and 8,000 shares vested with the balance of 12,000 shares forfeited. Mr. Kathwari also received on November 13, 2007, 15,000 shares of restricted stock which vest ratably over a five year period through June 30, 2012. In recognition of Mr. Kathwari's extraordinary efforts during the recent challenging times for our industry and in addition to the provisions of the Employment Agreement, on February 3, 2010 our Compensation Committee awarded Mr. Kathwari 15,000 restricted shares. The restricted shares are service-based and vest in three equal annual installments on the anniversary of the grant date. Mr. Kathwari was also awarded due to his extraordinary efforts 11,000 service-based restricted shares on July 20, 2010, which vest in two equal annual installments on the grant date anniversary. These awards were in addition to those provided for in the Employment Agreement.

### (13) Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated using the following weighted average share data (in thousands):

	Three Months September	
	2010	2009
Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic calculation	28,779	28,926
Effect of dilutive stock options and other share-based awards	171	
Weighted average common shares outstanding adjusted for dilution calculation	28,950	28,926

As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, stock options to purchase 2,060,628 and 2,251,389 common shares, respectively, were excluded from the respective diluted earnings per share calculation because their impact was anti-dilutive.

### (14) Comprehensive Income

Total comprehensive income represents the sum of net income and items of "other comprehensive income or loss" that are reported directly in equity. Such items, which are generally presented on a net-of-tax basis, may include foreign currency translation adjustments, minimum pension liability adjustments, fair value adjustments (i.e. gains and losses) on certain derivative instruments, and unrealized gains and losses on certain investments in debt and equity securities. We have reported our total comprehensive income in the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity.

Our accumulated other comprehensive income, comprised of losses on certain derivative instruments and accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments, totaled \$1.4 million at September 30, 2010 and \$1.2 million at

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

June 30, 2010. Foreign currency translation adjustments are the result of changes in foreign currency exchange rates related to our operations in Canada and Mexico. Foreign currency translation adjustments exclude income tax expense (benefit) given that the earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries are deemed to be reinvested for an indefinite period of time

### (15) Financial Instruments

ASC 820, "Fair value measurements and disclosures" defines fair value as the price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid upon transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date and in the principal or most advantageous market for that asset or liability. The fair value should be calculated based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, not on assumptions specific to the entity. In addition, the fair value of liabilities should include consideration of non-performance risk including our own credit risk. ASC 820 defines a hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs into three levels based on the extent to which inputs used in measuring fair value are observable in the market. Each fair value measurement is reported in one of the three levels which is determined by the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. These levels are:

- Level 1 Inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.
- Level 2 Inputs are based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
- Level 3 Inputs are generally unobservable and typically reflect management's estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. The fair values are therefore determined using model-based techniques that include option pricing models, discounted cash flow models, and similar techniques.

The following section describes the valuation methodologies we use to measure different financial assets and liabilities at fair value.

### Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table presents our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30, 2010 (in thousands):

	I	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3			Balance		
Cash equivalents	\$	79,057	\$ 	\$		\$	79,057		
Available-for-sale securities		_	 11,671				11,671		
Total	\$	79,057	\$ 11,671	\$		\$	90,728		

Cash equivalents consist of money market accounts and mutual funds in U.S. government and agency fixed income securities. We use quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities to determine fair value. At September 30, 2010, \$16.3 million of cash equivalents was restricted and is classified as a long-term asset.

Available-for-sale securities consist of U.S. municipal bonds with maturities of less than two years. We obtain fair value from our investment advisors, based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets. As of September 30, 2010 there were no material gross unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale securities.

As of September 30, 2010, the contractual maturities of our available-for-sale investments were as follows:

12

### Table of Contents

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

	Cost	E	stimated Fair Value
Due in one year or less	\$ 4,905	\$	4,910
Due after one year through five years	\$ 6,597	\$	6,618

No investments have been in a continuous loss position for more than one year, and no other-than-temporary impairments were recognized. Also see note 4, "Restricted Cash and Investments", and note 5, "Marketable Securities".

### Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

We measure certain assets at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. These assets are recognized at fair value when they are deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired. During the three months ended September 30, 2010, we did not record any other-than-temporary impairments on those assets required to be measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis.

### (16) Segment Information

Our operations are classified into two operating segments: wholesale and retail. These operating segments represent strategic business areas which, although they operate separately and provide their own distinctive services, enable us to more effectively offer our complete line of home furnishings and accessories.

The wholesale segment is principally involved in the development of the Ethan Allen brand, which encompasses the design, manufacture, domestic and offshore sourcing, sale and distribution of a full range of home furnishings and accessories to a network of independently operated and Ethan Allen operated design centers as well as related marketing and brand awareness efforts. Wholesale revenue is generated upon the wholesale sale and shipment of our product to all retail design centers, including those operated by Ethan Allen. Wholesale profitability includes (i) the wholesale gross margin, which represents the difference between the wholesale sales price and the cost associated with manufacturing and/or sourcing the related product, and (ii) other operating costs associated with wholesale segment activities.

The retail segment sells home furnishings and accessories to consumers through a network of Company operated design centers. Retail revenue is generated upon the retail sale and delivery of our product to our customers. Retail profitability includes (i) the retail gross margin, which represents the difference between the retail sales price and the cost of goods purchased from the wholesale segment, and (ii) other operating costs associated with retail segment activities.

Inter-segment eliminations result, primarily, from the wholesale sale of inventory to the retail segment, including the related profit margin.

We evaluate performance of the respective segments based upon revenues and operating income. While the manner in which our home furnishings and accessories are marketed and sold is consistent, the nature of the underlying recorded sales (i.e. wholesale versus retail) and the specific services that each operating segment provides (i.e. wholesale manufacturing, sourcing, and distribution versus retail selling) are different. Within the wholesale segment, we maintain revenue information according to each respective product line (i.e. case goods, upholstery, or home accessories and other).

A breakdown of wholesale sales by these product lines for the three months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 is provided as follows:

13

### **Table of Contents**

### ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

	September 30,	
	2010	2009
Case Goods	37%	40 %
Upholstered Products	48	45
Home Accessories and Other	15	15
	100 %	100 %

Revenue information by product line is not as easily determined within the retail segment. However, because wholesale production and sales are matched, for the most part, to incoming orders, we believe that the allocation of retail sales by product line would be similar to that of the wholesale segment. Information for the three months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 is provided below (in thousands):

		Three Months Ended September 30,						
		2010	ber 30,	2009				
Net sales:		2010		2009				
Wholesale segment	\$	107,555	S	81,281				
Retail segment	Ψ	121,023	Ψ	103,150				
Elimination of inter-company sales		(63,737)		(48,241)				
Consolidated Total	\$	164,841	\$	136,190				
Operating income (loss):								
Wholesale segment (1)	\$	11,939	\$	(4,660)				
Retail segment (2)		(4,290)		(11,349)				
Adjustment of inter-company profit (3)		(2,263)		(79)				
Consolidated Total	\$	5,386	\$	(16,088)				
Capital expenditures:								
Wholesale segment	\$	1,091	\$	801				
Retail segment		413		1,687				
Consolidated Total	\$	1,504	\$	2,488				
Total assets	Se	eptember 30, 2010		June 30, 2010				
Wholesale segment	\$	302,357	\$	296,363				
Retail segment		348,040		360,413				
Inventory profit elimination (4)		(27,384)		(24,999)				
Consolidated Total	\$	623,013	\$	631,777				

<sup>(1)</sup> Operating income (loss) for the wholesale segment for the three months ended September 30, 2009 includes pre-tax restructuring and impairment charges of \$0.2 million.

At September 30, 2010, there were 57 independent retail design centers located outside the United States compared with 49 at September 30, 2009. Approximately 6.4% of our net sales during the current quarter were derived from sales to these retail design centers compared with less than five percent in the prior year.

14

### Table of Contents

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

### (17) Subsequent Events

### Ethan Allen declares quarterly cash dividend

Ethan Allen's Board of Directors has declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.05 per share, which will be payable to shareholders of record as of October 11, 2010 and paid on October 25, 2010.

### Ethan Allen repurchases a portion of its Senior Notes

The Company repurchased \$3.0 million of its' Senior Notes with a trade date of October 4, 2010.

<sup>(2)</sup> Operating income (loss) for the retail segment for the three months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 includes pre-tax restructuring and impairment charges of \$0.2 million and \$0.7 million, respectively.

<sup>(3)</sup> Represents the change in wholesale profit contained in Ethan Allen operated design center inventory at the end of the period.

<sup>(4)</sup> Represents the wholesale profit contained in Ethan Allen operated design center inventory that has not yet been realized. These profits are realized when the related inventory is sold.

### (18) Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

There have been no recently issued accounting pronouncements during the three months ended September 30, 2010 or impending accounting changes that are expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

### (19) Financial Information About the Parent, the Issuer and the Guarantors

On September 27, 2005, Global (the "Issuer") issued \$200 million aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes which have been guaranteed on a senior basis by Interiors (the "Parent"), and other wholly owned domestic subsidiaries of the Issuer and the Parent, including Ethan Allen Retail, Inc., Ethan Allen Operations, Inc., Ethan Allen Realty, LLC, Lake Avenue Associates, Inc. and Manor House, Inc. The subsidiary guarantors (other than the Parent) are collectively called the "Guarantors". The guarantees of the Guarantors are unsecured. All of the guarantees are full, unconditional and joint and several and the Issuer and each of the Guarantors are 100% owned by the Parent. Our other subsidiaries which are not guarantors are called the "Non-Guarantors".

The following tables set forth the condensed consolidating balance sheets as of September 30, 2010 and June 30, 2010, the condensed consolidating statements of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, and the condensed consolidating statements of cash flows for the three months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 of the Parent, the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Non-Guarantors.

15

### Table of Contents

### ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

(In thousands)
September 30, 2010

		Parent		Issuer		Guarantors		Non-Guarantors	I	Eliminations	C	onsolidated
Assets												
Current assets:												
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	_	\$	59,095	\$	3,106	\$	527	\$	_	\$	62,728
Marketable securities		_		11,671		_		_		_		11,671
Accounts receivable, net		_		15,799		247		438		_		16,484
Inventories		_		_		161,112		4,790		(27,384)		138,518
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		_		13,049		12,848		668		_		26,565
Intercompany receivables				778,428		237,309		(5,182)		(1,010,555)		0
Total current assets		_		878,042		414,622		1,241		(1,037,939)		255,966
Durante alore alore and a minus and mod				0.201		285,154		7.5(0				302,095
Property, plant and equipment, net Goodwill and other intangible assets		_		9,381 37,905		7,223		7,560		_		45,128
Restricted cash and investments				16,329		7,223		_				16,329
Other assets		_		2,747		744		4		_		3,495
Investment in affiliated companies		575,596		(77,053)		/44		4		(498,543)		3,493
Total assets	\$		\$	867,351	S	707.742	\$	8,805	\$		\$	622.012
	<b>3</b>	575,596	<b>3</b>	807,331	Þ	707,743	Þ	8,803	Þ	(1,536,482)	Þ	623,013
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity Current liabilities:												
Current maturities of long-term debt	\$		\$		\$	3,899	\$		\$		\$	2 900
Customer deposits	Ф	_	Ф	_	Ф	48,452	Ф	2,659	Ф	_	Э	3,899 51,111
Accounts payable				7.367		12,824		2,039				20,422
Accrued expenses and other current		_		7,507		12,024		231		_		20,422
liabilities		1.558		47,803		15,211		483				65,055
Intercompany payables		315,570		597		690,545		3,843		(1,010,555)		05,055
Total current liabilities		317,128		55,767		770,931	_	7,216	_	(1,010,555)		140,487
Total current madmittes		317,126		33,707		770,931		7,210		(1,010,333)		140,467
Long-term debt		_		196,843		199		_		_		197,042
Other long-term liabilities		_		3,889		14,048		123		_		18,060
Deferred income taxes		_		8,956		_		_		_		8,956
Total liabilities		317,128		265,455		785,178	_	7,339		(1,010,555)		364,545
Shareholders' equity		258,468		601,896		(77,435)		1,466		(525,927)		258,468
Total liabilities and shareholders'						, , , ,		,				
equity	\$	575,596	\$	867,351	\$	707,743	\$	8,805	\$	(1,536,482)	\$	623,013
			_		_		_		_			

16

### Table of Contents

# ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET (In thousands)

June 30, 2010

	Parent	Issuer		Guarantors	Non-Guarantors		Eliminations		(	Consolidated
Assets				 						
Current assets:										
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ _	\$	67,269	\$ 5,720	\$	863	\$	_	\$	73,852
Marketable securities	_		11,075	_		_		_		11,075
Accounts receivable, net	_		16,385	274		446		_		17,105
Inventories	_		_	154,621		4,418		(24,999)		134,040
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	_		11,018	12,011		591				23,620

Intercompany receivables	_	756,998	233,887		(4,815)	(986,070)	_
Total current assets	_	862,745	406,513		1,503	 (1,011,069)	259,692
		· ·	ŕ		ŕ		
Property, plant and equipment, net	_	9,659	289,031		7,057	_	305,747
Goodwill and other intangible assets	_	37,905	7,223		_	_	45,128
Restricted cash and investments	_	17,318	_		_	_	17,318
Other assets	_	3,179	709		4	_	3,892
Investment in affiliated companies	571,323	(69,963)	_		_	(501,360)	_
Total assets	\$ 571,323	\$ 860,843	\$ 703,476	\$	8,564	\$ (1,512,429)	\$ 631,777
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity				_			
Current liabilities:							
Current maturities of long-term debt	\$ _	\$ _	\$ 3,898	\$	_	\$ _	\$ 3,898
Customer deposits	_	_	49,990		2,615	_	52,605
Accounts payable	2,589	7,059	14,117		187	_	23,952
Accrued expenses and other current							
liabilities	1,559	44,642	18,540		546	_	65,287
Intercompany payables	308,716	597	672,644		4,113	(986,070)	_
Total current liabilities	312,864	52,298	759,189		7,461	(986,070)	145,742
Long-term debt	_	199,158	211		_	_	199,369
Other long-term liabilities	_	4,912	14,084		127	_	19,123
Deferred income taxes	_	9,084	_		_	_	9,084
Total liabilities	 312,864	265,452	773,484		7,588	(986,070)	373,318
Shareholders' equity	258,459	595,391	(70,008)		976	(526,359)	258,459
Total liabilities and shareholders'			1				
equity	\$ 571,323	\$ 860,843	\$ 703,476	\$	8,564	\$ (1,512,429)	\$ 631,777

17

### Table of Contents

# ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands)

### Three months ended September 30, 2010

		Parent		Issuer		Guarantors		Non-Guarantors	E	liminations	C	onsolidated
Net sales	\$		\$	107,518	\$	174,970	\$	6,913	\$	(124,560)	\$	164,841
Cost of sales				82,434		118,562		3,639		(122,175)		82,460
Gross profit		_		25,084		56,408		3,274		(2,385)		82,381
Selling, general and administrative												
expenses		45		10,262		63,521		2,942		_		76,770
Restructuring and impairment charge,												
(credit) net		_				225						225
Total operating expenses		45		10,262		63,746		2,942		_		76,995
Operating income (loss)		(45)		14,822		(7,338)		332		(2,385)		5,386
Interest and other miscellaneous income,												
net		3,858		(3,925)		(13)		5		3,232		3,157
Interest and other related financing costs		_		2,898		76		_		_		2,974
Income (loss) before income tax expense		3,813		7,999		(7,427)		337		847		5,569
Income tax expense				1,756				_		<u> </u>		1,756
Net income (loss)	Ф	2.012	Ф	6.042	Ф	(7.427)	Ф	227	Φ.	0.47	Ф	2.012
Net ilicollie (1088)	\$	3,813	\$	6,243	\$	(7,427)	\$	337	<b>3</b>	847	\$	3,813

### Three Months Ended September 30, 2009

	Par	rent		Issuer		Guarantors		Non-Guarantors	Eli	iminations	C	onsolidated
Net sales	\$		\$	81,410	\$	136,996	\$	4,899	\$	(87,115)	\$	136,190
Cost of sales		_		66,961		95,200		2,703		(86,983)		77,881
Gross profit				14,449		41,796		2,196		(132)		58,309
Selling, general and administrative												
expenses		41		11,032		59,973		2,539		_		73,585
Restructuring and impairment charge,												
(credit) net						812						812
Total operating expenses		41		11,032		60,785		2,539				74,397
Operating income (loss)		(41)		3,417		(18,989)		(343)		(132)		(16,088)
Interest and other miscellaneous income,												
net		(13,538)		(18,596)		33		_		32,898		797
Interest and other related financing costs				2,905		76						2,981
Income before income tax expense		(13,579)	_	(18,084)	_	(19,032)	-	(343)	_	32,766	_	(18,272)
*		(13,379)		. , ,		(19,032)		(343)		32,700		
Income tax expense				(4,693)			_	<u> </u>				(4,693)
Net income (loss)	\$	(13,579)	\$	(13,391)	\$	(19,032)	\$	(343)	\$	32,766	\$	(13,579)
, ,		(,0,7)	<u> </u>	(10,0)1)		(-7,002)	Ψ.	(5:5)	<u>-</u>	22,700	<u> </u>	(-5,677)

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

### Three months ended September 30, 2010

	P	arent		Issuer	Guarantors	Non-Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
Net cash provided by (used in) operating							_	
activities	\$	6,815	\$	(5,951)	\$ (1,888)	\$ 143	<u>\$</u>	\$ (881)
Cash flows from investing activities:								
Capital expenditures		_		(332)	(772)	(400)	_	(1,504)
Proceeds from the disposal of property,								
plant and equipment		_		_	57	_	_	57
Decrease in restricted cash and								
investments		_		989	_	_	_	989
Purchase of marketable securities		_		(613)	_	_	_	(613)
Other		_		18	_	_	_	18
Net cash used in investing activities		_		62	(715)	(400)		(1,053)
Cash flows from financing activities:								
Payments on long-term debt		_		(2,285)	(11)	_	_	(2,296)
Purchase and other retirements of				(2,203)	(11)			(2,250)
company stock		(5,377)		_	_	_	_	(5,377)
Dividends paid		(1,438)		_	_	_	_	(1,438)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing		(1,150)	_					(1,150)
activities		(6,815)		(2,285)	(11)	_	_	(9,111)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash						(79)		(79)
Effect of exchange rate changes on easi	_					(19)		(19)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		_		(8,174)	(2,614)	(336)	_	(11,124)
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of								
period				67,269	5,720	863		73,852
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period	\$	_	\$	59,095	\$ 3,106	\$ 527	s —	\$ 62,728
cash and cash equitations — end of period	¥		<del>-</del>	27,075	\$ 2,100	<del>-</del> 327	<del>*</del>	02,720
				19	)			

### Table of Contents

# ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands)

### Three months ended September 30, 2009

	Parent	Issuer	Guarantors	Non-Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	\$ 1,448	\$ 20,697	\$ (4,238)	\$ (912)	<u> </u>	\$ 16,995
Cash flows from investing activities:						
Capital expenditures	_	(97)	(2,391)	_	_	(2,488)
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment	_	_	5,935	_	_	5,935
Other	_	6	´—	_	_	6
Net cash used in investing activities		(91)	3,544			3,453
Cash flows from financing activities:						
Payments on long-term debt	_	_	(10)	_	_	(10)
Payment of deferred financing costs	_	(22)	_	_	_	(22)
Dividends paid	(1,448)					(1,448)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing						
activities	(1,448)	(22)	(10)	_	_	(1,480)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash				524		524
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	_	20,584	(704)	(388)	_	19,492
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period		47,712	3,592	1,656		52,960
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period	<u> </u>	\$ 68,296	\$ 2,888	\$ 1,268	<u> </u>	\$ 72,452

### Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with (i) our Consolidated Financial Statements, and notes thereto, as set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and (ii) our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2010.

### Forward-Looking Statements

Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations and other sections of this Quarterly Report contain forward-looking statements relating to our future results. Such forward-looking statements are identified by use of forward-looking words such as "anticipates", "believes", "plans", "estimates", "expects", and "intends" or words or phrases of similar expression. These forward-looking statements are subject to management decisions and various assumptions, risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to: the effects of terrorist attacks or conflicts or wars involving the United States or its allies or trading partners; the effects of labor strikes; weather conditions that may affect sales; volatility in fuel, utility, transportation and security costs; changes in global or regional political or economic conditions, including changes in governmental and central bank policies; changes in business conditions in the furniture industry, including changes in consumer spending patterns and demand for home furnishings; effects of our brand awareness and marketing programs, including changes in demand for our existing and new products; our ability to locate new design center sites and/or negotiate favorable lease terms for additional design centers or for the expansion of existing design centers; competitive factors, including changes in products or marketing efforts of others; pricing pressures; fluctuations in interest rates and the cost, availability and quality of raw materials; those matters discussed in Items 1A and 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2010 and in our SEC filings; and our future decisions. Accordingly, actual circumstances and results could differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements.

### **Critical Accounting Policies**

The Company's consolidated financial statements are based on the accounting policies used. Certain accounting policies require that estimates and assumptions be made by management for use in the preparation of the financial statements. Critical accounting policies are those that are central to the presentation of the Company's financial condition and results and that require subjective or complex estimates by management. There have been no material changes with respect to the Company's critical accounting policies from those disclosed in its 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on August 19, 2010.

21

### Table of Contents

### **Results of Operations**

Our Company and the furniture industry have been dramatically affected by the economic factors in the United States and abroad. High unemployment, volatile capital markets, depressed housing markets and tight consumer spending all put negative stress on the economy, which has significantly affected our business. In response, we took many actions that significantly reduced costs and changed many aspects of our business. We consolidated our manufacturing footprint to seven facilities in North America where approximately 70% of our products are made. We also converted our case goods manufacturing to custom, made to order manufacturing, providing a significant differentiating factor in the market. We believe we have retained sufficient scalable capacity to meet higher volumes of demand. We consolidated our logistics for both our wholesale and retail divisions resulting in one major wholesale distribution center and 17 retail service centers operated by the company.

We have also changed our retail footprint. Where it made sense, we consolidated multiple design centers serving the same market into one, prominently located design center and closed underperforming locations. At September 30, 2010, the Company operated 143 design centers compared with 159 at June 30, 2009. Independent retailers operated 138 design centers at September 30, 2010 compared with 134 at June 30, 2009, with nine more international design centers than at June 30, 2009. The increase in international design centers improved our international net sales to 6.4% of our consolidated net sales in the quarter ended September 30, 2010.

In recent months, we have seen improvement in new orders and had a quarterly profit for the first time since December 2008. As a result, we have begun to hire to associates to support the ramping up of production in our manufacturing. We have also begun to add highly skilled interior designers in our retail division, and increased our spending in advertising to drive consumer traffic. In taking these actions to grow the business, we remain cautious but optimistic.

### Quarter Ended September 30, 2010 Compared to Quarter Ended September 30, 2009

Consolidated revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2010 increased 21.0% to \$164.8 million, from \$136.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2009, with increases in both the wholesale and retail segments. This improvement partly reflects the strong increase in new orders and backlog. We attribute this to (i) continued new marketing initiatives including our "two ways to save" promotions, and our interactive web site ethanalleninc.com, (ii) the continued use of national television media and an increase in direct mail media, emphasizing to targeted audiences our interior design services and the full line of our quality product offerings, and (iii) increased use of digital communication including periodic distribution of e-magazines to increase client exposures and drive traffic to our website and design centers and (iv) the positive effects of repositioning the retail network. This has been partly offset by the lingering effects of the negative economic stresses mentioned earlier, as well as the use of highly promotional pricing strategies by the Company's competitors.

Wholesale revenue for the first quarter of fiscal 2011 increased 32.3% to \$107.6 million from \$81.3 million in the prior year comparable period. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in the incoming order rate due to our special savings promotions during the quarter. The increase was partially offset by the continued negative economic stresses for home furnishings noted throughout the current period. There were four more independently operated retail design centers at September 30, 2010, which increased to 138 from 134 at September 30, 2009, and twelve fewer Ethan Allen-operated design centers as noted below. There were the same number of shipping days in the quarter both this year and last year.

Retail revenue from Ethan Allen-operated design centers for the three months ended September 30, 2010 increased 17.3% to \$121.0 million from \$103.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2009. We believe the increase in retail sales by Ethan Allen-operated design centers is due to the use of promotional marketing

22

### Table of Contents

campaigns. During the quarter, total written orders decreased 2.4% compared to the prior year period, which we believe reflects the timing of when savings events end in relation to quarter-end. There was a net decrease in the number of Ethan Allen-operated design centers to 143 as of September 30, 2010 as compared to 155 as of September 30, 2009. During the current quarter, we closed two design centers.

Comparable design centers are those which have been operating for at least 15 months. Minimal net sales, derived from the delivery of customer ordered product, are generated during the first three months of operations of newly opened (including relocated) design centers. Design centers acquired by us from independent retailers are included in comparable design centers sales in their 13th full month of Ethan Allen-owned operations. Quarter-over-quarter, written business of Ethan Allen-operated design

centers decreased 2.4% while comparable design centers written business increased 3.5%. Over that same period, there was a 2.0% increase in wholesale orders.

We have made considerable investment within the retail network to strengthen the level of service, professionalism, interior design competence, efficiency, and effectiveness of the retail design center personnel. We believe that over time, we will benefit from (i) our repositioning of the retail network, (ii) new product introductions, (iii) new marketing initiatives such as our special savings and "one piece at a time" promotions, and our interior design affiliate (IDA) program, (iv) continued use of technology including our state-of-the-art website coupled with personal service from our design professionals, and (v) ongoing use of national television and other targeted advertising media.

Gross profit increased during the quarter to \$82.4 million from \$58.3 million in the prior year comparable quarter. The 41.3% increase in gross profit was primarily attributable to (i) the increase in net sales of 21.0%, with an overall increase in shipments in both market segments, and (ii) streamlined and more efficient manufacturing, resulting in decreased fixed costs due to fewer manufacturing plants, including a \$6.6 million reduction due to prior year accelerated depreciation charges related to restructuring actions. The sales mix had a slightly unfavorable shift with retail sales representing a lower proportionate share of total sales in the current quarter (73%) compared to the prior year period (76%). Consolidated gross margin increased to 50.0% from 42.8% in the prior year as a result, primarily, of the factors set forth above.

Operating profit, the elements of which are discussed in greater detail below, was impacted by the following items during the three months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009:

**Operating expenses** increased 3.5% to \$77.0 million from \$74.4 million in the prior year quarter, and decreased as a percent of sales to 46.7% from 54.6% of sales in the prior year quarter. Operating expenses increased in total due to the impact of increased sales on selling expenses and an increase in advertising expenses, but were down as a percentage of sales on the higher volume of sales.

Consolidated operating income (loss) for the three month period ended September 30, 2010 was income of \$5.4 million, or 3.3% of sales, as compared to a loss of \$16.1 million, or a negative 11.8% of sales, for the three months ended September 30, 2009. This improvement of \$21.5 million is due mostly to increased sales as well as cost savings realized this year.

Wholesale operating income for the three months ended September 30, 2010 was \$11.9 million, or 11.1% of sales, as compared to a loss of \$4.7 million, or a negative 5.7% of sales, in the prior year comparable quarter. The increase of \$16.6 million was primarily attributable to an increase in sales volume and current year savings relating to the closure of certain manufacturing plants, including the accelerated depreciation incurred in the prior year.

23

### **Table of Contents**

Retail operating loss was \$4.3 million, or a negative 3.5% of sales, for the first quarter of fiscal 2011 compared to a loss of \$11.3 million, or a negative 11.0% of sales, for the first quarter of fiscal 2010. The improvement was primarily due to current year improvement in sales as well as cost savings due to the benefit of the cost cutting actions taken

Interest and other miscellaneous income, net increased \$2.4 million from the prior year comparable quarter. The increase was primarily due to the recording of a \$1.5 million out of period adjustment related to non-operating income recorded in the current period.

**Interest and other related financing costs** amounted to just under \$3.0 million in both the current and prior year periods. This amount consists primarily of interest expense on our senior unsecured debt.

**Income tax expense** for the three months ended September 30, 2010 totaled an expense of \$1.8 million as compared to a benefit of \$4.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2009. Our effective tax rate for the current quarter was 31.5% compared to 25.7% in the prior year quarter. In the current quarter, the effective tax rate is related to the tax expense on the current quarter's net income increased by current quarter interest expense on uncertain tax positions and partially offset by a reduction in valuation allowance driven primarily by utilization of certain deferred tax assets.

Net income (loss) for the three months ended September 30, 2010, was income of \$3.8 million as compared to a loss of \$13.6 million in the prior year comparable period. This resulted in net income per diluted share of \$0.13 in the current quarter compared to a loss per diluted share of \$0.47 in the prior year quarter.

### Liquidity and Capital Resources

At September 30, 2010, we held cash and cash equivalents of \$62.7 million, marketable securities of \$11.7 million, and restricted cash and investments of \$16.3 million. Our principal sources of liquidity include cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, cash flow from operations, the revolving line of credit, and borrowings.

In September 2005, we completed a private offering of \$200.0 million in ten-year senior unsecured notes due 2015 (the "Senior Notes"). The Senior Notes were offered by Global and have an annual coupon rate of 5.375% with interest payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year. We have used the net proceeds of \$198.4 million to expand our retail network, invest in our manufacturing and logistics operations, and for other general corporate purposes. In September 2010, the Company repurchased \$2.4 million of the Senior Notes in three unsolicited open market transactions.

On October 23, 2009, the Company expanded to \$60 million the three-year senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility (the "Facility") established on May 29, 2009. The Facility provides revolving credit financing of up to \$60 million, subject to borrowing base availability. At the Company's option, revolving loans under the Agreement bear interest at an annual rate of either:

- (a) London Interbank Offered rate ("LIBOR") plus 3.25% to 4.25%, based on the average availability, or
- (b) the higher of (i) a prime rate, (ii) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, or (iii) a LIBOR rate plus 1.00% plus, in each case, an additional 2.25% to 3.25%, based on average availability.

The Facility is secured by all property owned, leased or operated by the Company in the United States excluding any real property owned by the Company and contains customary covenants which may limit the Company's ability to incur debt; engage in mergers and consolidations; make restricted payments (including dividends); sell certain assets; and make investments.

24

### Table of Contents

At September 30, 2010, we had no revolving loans, and \$1.0 million in standby letters of credit outstanding under the Facility. Remaining availability under the revolver totaled \$59.0 million subject to limitations set forth in the agreement noted above. We are in compliance with the terms and conditions of the agreement and as a result, the coverage charge ratio, or other restricted payment limitations did not apply.

As of September 30, 2010, we are in compliance with all covenants of our Facility and our Senior Notes.

A summary of net cash provided by (used in) operating, investing, and financing activities for the three month periods ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 is provided below (in millions):

		Three Months Ended September 30,					
	2	010	2009				
Operating Activities							
Net income plus depreciation and amortization	\$	9.4 \$	(0.9)				
Working capital		(9.7)	22.1				
Other (non-cash items, long-term assets and liabilities)		(0.6)	(4.2)				
Total provided by (used in) operating activities	\$	(0.9)	17.0				
Investing Activities							
Capital expenditures	\$	(1.5) \$	(2.5)				
Asset sales		0.1	5.9				
Decrease in restricted cash and investments		1.0	_				
Other		(0.7)	<u> </u>				
Total provided by (used in) investing activities	<u>\$</u>	(1.1) \$	3.4				
Financing Activities							
Common share repurchases	\$	(5.4) \$	_				
Early extinguishment of debt		(2.3)	_				
Payment of dividends		(1.4)	(1.5)				
Total used in financing activities	\$	(9.1) \$	(1.5)				

### **Operating Activities**

Compared to the same period in fiscal year 2010, cash provided by operating activities decreased \$17.9 million. This occurred due to a \$31.7 million decrease in cash generated from working capital (accounts receivable, inventories, prepaid and other current assets, customer deposits, payables, accrued expenses, and other current liabilities) resulting mostly from an increase in inventory and customer deposits totaling \$23.0 million related to improved sales and orders, as well as a large tax refund received in July 2009 which did not recur in the current quarter. Partly offsetting the decrease in working capital was a \$17.4 million improvement in net income (including \$6.6 million in accelerated depreciation in fiscal 2010).

### Investing Activities

During the quarter ended September 30, 2010, we continued our capital spending at a reduced rate. As compared to the same period in fiscal year 2010, cash used in investing activities decreased \$4.5 million during the three months ended September 30, 2010 due, primarily, to a decrease in proceeds from the sale of retail properties compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2010. In addition, we transferred a portion of restricted cash to our operating cash account during the current quarter due to a reduction in our workmen's compensation claims. We anticipate that cash from operations will be sufficient to fund future capital expenditures.

25

### Table of Contents

### Financing Activities

As compared to the same period in fiscal year 2010, cash used in financing activities increased \$7.6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2010, primarily as a result of the resumption of our stock repurchase activity due to our ability to generate excess cash and the favorable stock price. We repurchased 386,886 shares during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 and first quarter of fiscal 2011, all of which were settled during the current fiscal quarter. We also repurchased \$2.4 million of our Senior Notes in three unsolicited open market transactions. We may make additional unsolicited repurchases of our Senior Notes in the future, but we have no specific plans to do so. The Company has continuously paid dividends every quarter since 1996. On July 20, 2010, the Board declared a dividend of \$0.05 per common share, payable on October 25, 2010, to shareholders of record as of October 11, 2010. If economic conditions worsen, the Company may reduce our quarterly dividends.

As of September 30, 2010, our outstanding debt totaled \$200.9 million, the current and long-term portions of which amounted to \$3.9 million and \$197.0 million, respectively. The aggregate scheduled maturities of long-term debt for each of the next five fiscal years are: \$3.9 million in fiscal 2011, and less than \$0.1 million in fiscal 2012 through 2015. The balance of our long-term Senior Notes (\$196.8 million) matures in September 2015 (fiscal 2016).

There has been no material change to the amount or timing of cash payments related to our outstanding contractual obligations as set forth in Part II, Item 7—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 19, 2010.

We believe that our cash flow from operations, together with our other available sources of liquidity, will be adequate to make all required payments of principal and interest on our debt, to permit anticipated capital expenditures, and to fund working capital and other cash requirements. As of September 30, 2010, we had working capital of \$115.5 million compared to \$114.0 million at June 30, 2010, an increase of \$1.5 million (1.3%). The Company had a current ratio of 1.8 to 1 at September 30, 2010 and June 30, 2010.

In addition to using available cash to fund changes in working capital, necessary capital expenditures, acquisition activity, the repayment of debt, and the payment of dividends, we have been authorized by our Board of Directors to repurchase our common stock, from time to time, either directly or through agents, in the open market at prices and on terms satisfactory to us. All of our common stock repurchases and retirements are recorded as treasury stock and result in a reduction of shareholders' equity.

During the three months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, we repurchased and/or retired the following shares of our common stock:

	 September 30,		
	 2010	2009	
Common shares repurchased	 204,286		
Cost to repurchase common shares	\$ 2,787,777		_
Average price per share	\$ 13.65		—

As of September 30, 2010, we had a remaining Board authorization to repurchase 1,180,783 shares.

### Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Other Commitments, Contingencies and Contractual Obligations

We do not utilize or employ any off-balance sheet arrangements, including special-purpose entities, in operating our business. As such, we do not maintain any (i) retained or contingent interests, (ii) derivative instruments (other than as specified below), or (iii) variable interests which could serve as a source of potential risk to our future liquidity, capital resources and results of operations.

We may, from time to time in the ordinary course of business, provide guarantees on behalf of selected affiliated entities or become contractually obligated to perform in accordance with the terms and conditions of certain business agreements. The nature and extent of these guarantees and obligations may vary based on our underlying relationship with the benefiting party and the business purpose for which the guarantee or obligation is being provided. Details of those arrangements for which we act as guaranter or obligor are provided below.

### **Retailer-Related Guarantees**

### Independent Retailer Credit Facility

In June 2009, we obligated ourselves, on behalf of one of our independent retailers, with respect to a \$0.5 million credit facility (the "Amended Credit Facility"). This obligation requires us, in the event of the retailer's default under the Amended Credit Facility, to repurchase the retailer's inventory at cost, applying such purchase price to the retailer's outstanding indebtedness under the Amended Credit Facility. Our obligation remains in effect for the life of the term loan. The agreement expires in April 2011. We believe this obligation will expire without requiring funding by us.

### Ethan Allen Consumer Credit Program

The terms and conditions of our consumer credit program, which is financed and administered by a third-party financial institution on a non-recourse basis to Ethan Allen, are set forth in an agreement between the Company and that financial service provider (the "Program Agreement"). In February and June 2010, the Company modified the Program Agreement to comply with recent changes in laws and made certain other changes to fees payable to the service provider. Any independent retailer choosing to participate in the consumer credit program is required to enter into a separate agreement with that same third-party financial institution which sets forth the terms and conditions under which the retailer is to perform in connection with its offering of consumer credit to its customers (the "Retailer Agreement"). We have obligated ourselves on behalf of any independent retailer choosing to participate in our consumer credit program by agreeing, in the event of default, breach, or failure of the independent retailer to perform under such Retailer Agreement, to take on certain responsibilities of the independent retailer, including, but not limited to, delivery of goods and reimbursement of customer deposits. Customer receivables originated by independent retailers remain non-recourse to Ethan Allen. Our obligation remains in effect for the term of the Program Agreement that expires in July 2014. While the maximum potential amount of future payments (undiscounted) that we could be required to make under this obligation is indeterminable, recourse provisions exist that would enable us to recover, from the independent retailer, any amount paid or incurred by us related to our performance. Based on the underlying creditworthiness of our independent retailers, including their historical ability to satisfactorily perform in connection with the terms of this agreement also contain a right for the credit card issuer to demand from the Company collateral of up to \$12 million if the Company does not meet certain covenants. As of

#### **Product Warranties**

Our products, including our case goods, upholstery and home accents, generally carry explicit product warranties that extend from one to ten years and are provided based on terms that are generally accepted in the industry. All of our domestic independent retailers are required to enter into, and perform in accordance with the terms and

27

### Table of Contents

conditions of, a warranty service agreement. We record provisions for estimated warranty and other related costs at time of sale based on historical warranty loss experience and make periodic adjustments to those provisions to reflect actual experience. On rare occasion, certain warranty and other related claims involve matters of dispute that ultimately are resolved by negotiation, arbitration or litigation. In certain cases, a material warranty issue may arise which is beyond the scope of our historical experience. We provide for such warranty issues as they become known and are deemed to be both probable and estimable. It is reasonably possible that, from time to time, additional warranty and other related claims could arise from disputes or other matters beyond the scope of our historical experience. As of September 30, 2010, our product warranty liability totaled \$0.8 million.

### **Business Outlook**

We cannot forecast when the stresses in the U.S. economy from continued high unemployment, depressed housing market and tight consumer spending, which had a negative impact on our business, will improve meaningfully. As business conditions have gradually improved we have begun to hire for both our manufacturing and retail operations as well as to invest in incremental advertising to drive traffic to our design centers. While optimistic about our long-term outlook, we remain cautious.

As macro-economic factors change, it is also possible that our costs associated with production (including raw materials and labor), distribution (including freight and fuel charges), and retail operations (including compensation and benefits, delivery and warehousing, occupancy, and advertising expenses) may increase. We may also experience production difficulties as we continue to increase capacity of our remaining manufacturing plants to match demand, and improve efficiency in our custom case goods production. We cannot reasonably predict when, or to what extent, such events may occur or what effect, if any, such events may have on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

The home furnishings industry remains extremely competitive with respect to both the sourcing of products and the wholesale and retail sale of those products. Domestic manufacturers continue to face pricing pressures because of the manufacturing capabilities of other countries, particularly within Asia. In response to these pressures, a large number of U.S. furniture manufacturers have increased their overseas sourcing to retain market share. While we have also turned to overseas sourcing to remain competitive, we choose to differentiate ourselves by maintaining a substantial domestic manufacturing base. Consequently we make and/or assemble approximately 70% of our products domestically. We continue to believe that a balanced approach to product sourcing, which includes the domestic manufacture of certain product offerings coupled with the import of other selected products, provides the greatest degree of flexibility and is the most effective approach to ensuring that acceptable levels of quality, service and value are attained.

Our retail strategy involves (i) a continued focus on providing a wide array of product solutions and superior customer service, (ii) the opening of new or relocated design centers in more prominent locations, while encouraging independent retailers to do the same, and (iii) leveraging the use of technology and personal service within our retail network, and (iv) further expansion internationally. We believe this strategy provides an opportunity to grow our business.

### **Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk**

There have been no material changes to the market risks disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 19, 2010.

### **Item 4. Controls and Procedures**

### Management's Report on Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and the Vice President-Finance ("VPF"), conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, the CEO and VPF have concluded that, as of September 30, 2010, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that material information relating to us (including our consolidated subsidiaries), which is required to be disclosed by us in our periodic reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including the CEO and VPF, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

### Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2010 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

### PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

### **Item 1. Legal Proceedings**

There have been no material changes to the matters discussed in Part I, Item 3 -Legal Proceedings in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 19, 2010.

### **Item 1A. Risk Factors**

There have been no material changes to the market risks disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 19, 2010.

### Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

### Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Certain information regarding purchases made by or on behalf of the Company or any affiliated purchaser (as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Exchange Act) of our common stock during the three months ended September 30, 2010 is provided below:

				Maximum
			Total Number of	Number of Shares
			Shares Purchased as	That May Yet Be
			Part of Publicly	Purchased Under
	Total Number of	Average Price Paid	Announced Plans or	the Plans or
Period	Shares Purchased	Per Share	Programs	Programs (a)
July	204,286	\$ 13.65	204,286	1,180,783
August	_	_	_	1,180,783
September	_	_	_	1,180,783
Total	204,286	\$ 13.65	204,286	

<sup>(</sup>a) On November 21, 2002, our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program authorizing us to repurchase up to 2,000,000 shares of our common stock, from time to time, either directly or through agents, in the open market at prices and on terms satisfactory to us. Subsequent to that date, the Board of Directors increased the remaining authorization on seven separate occasions, the last of which was on November 13, 2007.

29

### Table of Contents

### **Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities**

Not applicable.

### Item 4. Reserved

### Item 5. Other Information

Not applicable.

### Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit		
Number		Description
10(e)-3		Amended and Restated Private Label Consumer Credit Card Program Agreement dated June 30, 2010 between Ethan Allen iil, Inc. and GE Money Bank (confidential treatment requested under Rule 24b-2 as to certain portions which are omitted and .
31.1	Rule 13a-14(a) Certification	of Principal Executive Officer
31.2	Rule 13a-14(a) Certification	of Principal Financial Officer
32.1	Section 1350 Certification	of Principal Executive Officer
32.2	Section 1350 Certification	of Principal Financial Officer

### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

### ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC.

(Registrant)

DATE: November 3, 2010 BY: /s/ M. Farooq Kathwari

Farooq Kathwari

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

DATE: November 3, 2010 BY: /s/ David R. Callen

David R. Callen

Vice President, Finance & Treasurer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

31

### Table of Contents

### EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number	Exhibit
10(e)-3	Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Private Label Consumer Credit Card Program Agreement dated June 30, 2010 between Ethan Allen
	Global, Inc., Ethan Allen Retail, Inc. and GE Money Bank (confidential treatment requested under Rule 24b-2 as to certain portions which are omitted and filed separately with the SEC).
31.1	Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer
31.2	Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer
32.1	Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
32.2	Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer
	32

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. HAS CLAIMED CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT OF PORTIONS OF THIS DOCUMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 24-B UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

## THIRD AMENDMENT TO SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED PRIVATE LABEL CONSUMER CREDIT CARD PROGRAM AGREEMENT

This THIRD AMENDMENT TO SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED PRIVATE LABEL CONSUMER CREDIT CARD PROGRAM AGREEMENT dated as of June 30, 2010 ("Amendment"), amends that certain Second Amended and Restated Private Label Consumer Credit Card Program Agreement dated as of July 23, 2007 (as amended, modified and supplemented from time to time, the "Agreement"), by and between Ethan Allen Global, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Ethan Allen Global"), and Ethan Allen Retail, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Ethan Allen Retail", and together with Ethan Allen Global, "Retailer"), and GE Money Bank ("Bank"). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined have the meanings given them in the Agreement.

WHEREAS, Retailer and Bank previously amended the Agreement as of July 25, 2008, and February 16, 2010; and

WHEREAS, Retailer and Bank now wish to further amend the Agreement in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, the parties hereby agree as follows:

### I. AMENDMENT TO THE AGREEMENT

- **1.1 Amendment to Section 4.1(b).** Section 4.1(b) is hereby amended by deleting it in its entirety and replacing it with the following:
- 1.2 Amendment to Section 4.4. Section 4.4 is hereby amended by deleting it in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

### Section 4.4 Letter of Credit.

(a) At any time during any Collateral Period, Bank may require that Retailer deliver to Bank, within fifteen (15) days of Bank's written request, either: (i) an Eligible Letter of Credit, or (ii) substitute collateral in the form of cash and securities (the "Substitute Collateral") which shall be held in a deposit account subject to Bank's control in accordance with the Substitute Collateral Documentation. Retailer may, at the time it receives Bank's

\*CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FURNISHED SEPARATELY TO THE COMMISSION

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. HAS CLAIMED CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT OF PORTIONS OF THIS DOCUMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 24-B UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

written request or at any time during any Collateral Period, elect in its discretion to provide to Bank pursuant to the terms of this Section 4.4 either the Eligible Letter of Credit or the Substitute Collateral. The amount of any Eligible Letter of Credit or Substitute Collateral requested by Bank (such requested amount being referred to herein as the "Collateral Amount") shall not exceed (i) \* in the event of a Level 1 Collateral Event; or (ii) \* in the event of a Level 2 Collateral Event. Retailer acknowledges that the Collateral Amount may be increased from time to time pursuant to Section 6.21.

- (b) If, at any time, an event shall occur which would cause any Letter of Credit previously delivered to Bank to cease to be an Eligible Letter of Credit, within ten (10) days of the earlier of (i) the date on which Retailer first learns of the occurrence of such event; or (ii) the date on which Retailer first receives notice thereof from Bank, Retailer shall cause a substitute Eligible Letter of Credit to be issued and delivered to Bank in a face amount equal to the Collateral Amount or Substitute Collateral in accordance with the Substitute Collateral Documentation. On or before forty-five (45) days prior to the expiration of each Letter of Credit provided to Bank, Retailer shall cause a substitute Eligible Letter of Credit to be issued and delivered to Bank in a face amount equal to the Collateral Amount or Substitute Collateral in accordance with the Substitute Collateral Documentation.
- (c) If, at any time, an event shall occur which would cause the Substitute Collateral Documentation to no longer be valid or in full force and effect, Bank shall have the applicable rights and remedies set forth in the Substitute Collateral Documentation.
- (d) Any amounts drawn under a Letter of Credit or transferred to Bank under the Substitute Collateral Documentation hereunder in excess of the Delivery Obligations then due to Bank shall be held by Bank in a non-interest bearing account on Bank's books (the "Collateral Account") and shall secure Retailer's full and prompt payment of the Delivery Obligations then or thereafter owing. If Retailer fails to pay any Delivery Obligation when due, Bank may immediately, and without prior notice to Retailer, debit such unpaid amount from the amounts then remaining in the Collateral Account. Bank's security interest in the Collateral Account shall be in addition to any right of setoff or recoupment that Bank may otherwise have under this Agreement or Applicable Law. If Retailer purchases or arranges for the purchase of all of the Accounts and related Indebtedness from Bank in accordance with Section 10.1 hereof, and if as of the date of such purchase, Retailer has paid all Delivery Obligations, Bank shall simultaneously pay to Retailer, an amount equal to the amount remaining in the Collateral Account on the date of such purchase. If Retailer does not purchase or arrange for the purchase of all of the Accounts and related Indebtedness in accordance with Section 10.2 hereof, and if as of the Final Liquidation Date, Retailer has paid all Delivery Obligations, Bank shall pay to

\*CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FURNISHED SEPARATELY TO THE COMMISSION

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. HAS CLAIMED CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT OF PORTIONS OF THIS DOCUMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 24-B UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Retailer an amount equal to the amounts remaining in the Collateral Account on the Final Liquidation Date.

(e) The obligations under this Section 4.4 shall apply at all times until the end of the Collateral Period, at which time, Bank shall (x) surrender any outstanding Letter of Credit or Substitute Collateral to Retailer, and (y) pay to Retailer an amount equal to the amount remaining in the Collateral Account, if any. The foregoing notwithstanding, if after Bank shall have surrendered any Letter of Credit or Substitute Collateral hereunder following the successful completion by

Retailer of a Remediation Period, a Level 1 Collateral Event or a Level 2 Collateral Event shall again occur, the provisions of this Section 4.4 shall again apply. Amendment to Section 6.21. Section 6.21 is hereby amended by deleting it in its entirety and replacing it with the following: Amendment to Section 9.1. The reference to "the fifth (5h) anniversary of the Effective Date" in the first sentence of Section 9.1 is hereby deleted and 1.4 replaced with "July 31, 2014". 1.5 Amendment to Section 9.2(k). The first sentence of Section 9.2(k) is hereby amended by deleting it in its entirety and replacing it with the following: Bank shall have the right to terminate the Agreement if (i) Retailer shall fail to deliver or amend an Eligible Letter of Credit or Substitute Collateral as required pursuant to Section 4.4(a); (ii) Retailer shall fail to deliver a substitute Eligible Letter of Credit or Substitute Collateral pursuant to Section 4.4(b) in the event any Letter of Credit previously delivered to Bank ceases to be an Eligible Letter of Credit; or (iii) the Substitute Collateral Documentation ceases to be a valid, binding and/or enforceable obligation of any of the parties thereto (including pursuant to a permitted termination by any party thereto) or Bank's security interest set forth therein ceases to be a first priority perfected security interest. Amendment to Appendix A. The definitions of "Letter of Credit Event" and "Letter of Credit Period" are hereby deleted in their entirety, and the , "Level 1 Collateral Event," "Level 2 Collateral Event, definitions of "Collateral Period," "GAAP," , "Remediation Period," "Substitute Collateral Documentation," , set forth below are hereby added to Appendix A: "Collateral Period" means the period of time between the occurrence of either a Level 1 Collateral Event or a Level 2 Collateral Event and the earlier of (i) the end of any \*CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FURNISHED SEPARATELY TO THE COMMISSION ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. HAS CLAIMED CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT OF PORTIONS OF THIS DOCUMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 24-B UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 Remediation Period, and (ii) ninety (90) days after the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles applicable in the United States, consistently applied. "Level 1 Collateral Event" means Ethan Allen Interiors Inc.'s failure to maintain, as of the end of each fiscal quarter of Ethan Allen Interiors Inc., "Level 2 Collateral Event" means Ethan Allen Interiors Inc.'s failure to maintain, as of the end of each fiscal quarter of Ethan Allen Interiors Inc.,

"Remediation Period" means a two (2) successive full calendar quarter period beginning after the occurrence of either a Level 1 Collateral Event or a Level 2 Collateral Event throughout which Ethan Allen Interiors Inc.'s

"Substitute Collateral Documentation" means (i) that certain Master Pledge and Security Agreement between GE Money Bank, Ethan Allen Global, Inc., and Ethan Allen Retail, Inc., dated as of May 21, 2010; (ii) that certain Control Agreement between GE Money Bank, Ethan Allen Global, Inc., Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC, and Citigroup Global Markets Inc., dated as of May 21, 2010; (iii) any amendment, modification, and/or supplement to the foregoing agreements; and (iv) any replacement agreement(s) concerning the subject matter of the foregoing agreements.

\*

**1.7 Amendment to Schedule 3.5.** Schedule 3.5 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the revised Schedule 3.5 attached hereto as Exhibit A.

\*CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FURNISHED SEPARATELY TO THE COMMISSION

## ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. HAS CLAIMED CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT OF PORTIONS OF THIS DOCUMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 24-B UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

### II. GENERAL

- 2.1 Authority for Amendment. Retailer represents and warrants to Bank that the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment has been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of Retailer and upon execution by all parties, will constitute a legal, binding obligation of Retailer.
- 2.2 Effect of Amendment. Except as specifically amended hereby, the Agreement, and all terms contained therein, remains in full force and effect. The Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, constitutes the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.
- 2.3 Binding Effect; Severability. Each reference herein to a party hereto shall be deemed to include its successors and assigns, all of whom shall be bound by this Amendment and in whose favor the provisions of this Amendment shall inure. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Amendment shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

2.4 Further Assurances. The parties hereto agree to execute such other d necessary or desirable for the execution and implementation of this Amendment and the	ocuments and instruments and to do such other and further things as may be consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.
2.5 Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construe of conflicts of laws.	d in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, without regard to principles
2.6 Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each constitute but one agreement.	ch of which shall constitute an original, but all of which, when taken together, shall
*CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FURNISHED SEPA	ARATELY TO THE COMMISSION
ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. HAS CLAIMED CONFIDENTIAL TREATM 24-B UNDER THE SECURITIE	
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Retailer and Bank have caused this Amendment to above written.	be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first
RETAILER:	BANK:
ETHAN ALLEN GLOBAL, INC.	GE MONEY BANK
By:	Ву:
Name: Title:	Name: Title:
By: Name:	
Title:	
*CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FURNISHED SEPA	ARATELY TO THE COMMISSION
ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. HAS CLAIMED CONFIDENTIAL TREATM 24-B UNDER THE SECURITIE	
EXHIB TO AMEN	
SCHEDU To Credit Card Progr	
Initial Program F	
*	
*CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FURNISHED SEPA	ARATELY TO THE COMMISSION

### RULE 13a-14(a) CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

### I, M. Farooq Kathwari, certify that:

- (1) I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ethan Allen Interiors Inc.;
- (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- (4) The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Designed such internal controls over financial reporting, or caused such internal controls over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- (5) The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ M. Farooq Kathwari	Chairman, President and
(M. Farooq Kathwari)	Chief Executive Officer
November 3, 2010	

### RULE 13a-14(a) CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

### I, David R. Callen, certify that:

- (1) I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ethan Allen Interiors Inc.;
- (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- (4) The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Designed such internal controls over financial reporting, or caused such internal controls over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- (5) The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ David. R. Callen (David R. Callen)	Vice President, Finance and Treasurer
November 3, 2010	

### SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

### SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, David R. Callen, hereby certify that the September 30, 2010 Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed by Ethan Allen Interiors Inc. (the "Company"), which contains the Company's financial statements, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)) and that information contained in such Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Vice President, Finance

/s/ David R. Callen

& Treasurer

/s/ David R. Callen	Vice President, Finance & Treasurer
(David R. Callen)	
November 3, 2010	